PLANNING COMMITTEE 5 FEBRUARY 2019

PUBLIC DOCUMENT PACK



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 15 JANUARY 2019 COUNCIL CHAMBER, TOWN HOUSE, HADDINGTON

Committee Members Present:

Councillor N Hampshire (Convener)

Councillor L Bruce

Councillor J Findlay

Councillor N Gilbert

Councillor W Innes

Councillor C McGinn

Councillor K McLeod

Councillor J McMillan

Councillor F O'Donnell

Other Councillors Present:

Councillor A Forrest

Council Officials Present:

Mr I McFarlane, Service Manager - Planning

Mr K Dingwall, Team Manager - Planning Delivery

Mr M Greenshields, Senior Roads Officer

Mr R Yates, Transportation Planning Officer

Mr C Kiely, Planner

Ms P Bristow, Communications Adviser

Mr J Allan, Planning Technician

Clerk:

Ms A Smith

Visitors Present/Addressing the Committee:

Mr W Dickson

Apologies:

Councillor S Kempson Councillor B Small

Councillor J Williamson

Declarations of Interest:

None

1. MINUTES FOR APPROVAL – PLANNING COMMITTEE 4 DECEMBER 2018

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee of 4 December 2018 were approved.

2. PLANNING APPLICATION NO. 18/01119/P: EXTENSION TO HOUSE AND FORMATION OF ROOF TERRACE WITH BALUSTRADE AT 29 PROMENDAE, MUSSELBURGH

A report was submitted in relation to Planning Application No. 18/01119/P. Ciaran Kiely, Planner, presented the report, summarising the key points. The proposed decision set out in the report was for refusal of the application.

lain McFarlane, Service Manager – Planning, drew attention to the reasons for refusal, advising that the last reason concerned flood risk; the other reasons were mainly due to design issues in relation to the two-storey extension. He added that the applicant and agent had ignored advice from officers that a single storey extension could be more appropriate subject to its design.

Mr McFarlane and Mr Kiely responded to questions. Regarding flood risk/evidence, Mr McFarlane stated that SEPA's flood risk advice was geared towards no additional risk of flooding, also that vulnerable groups were not put at further risk, either to their property or person. Anyone seeking to develop in a flood risk area had to consult with SEPA and the Council's flood risk officers. In relation to whether a single storey extension would provide leeway for a larger footprint, Mr McFarlane indicated it was difficult to say, any plans put forward would need assessed. He stated that the impact on the streetscape was a key factor. He informed Members that there was some degree of flexibility and officers were willing to discuss options with the applicant. Mr Kiely, responding to a query about the site boundary, advised that this was a civil matter and not a material planning consideration. Regarding development at the rear, Mr McFarlane stated this was problematic due to the interaction of various properties. Neither he nor Mr Kiely knew who owned the outbuildings. Responding to further points about flooding, Mr McFarlane advised that SEPA's guidance and guidance from the Scottish Government stated that development should not take place in a 1:200 flood plain; he referred to standards expected for assessing flood risk.

Walter Dickson, an immediate neighbour, spoke against the application. He clarified several points raised by Members regarding ownership and boundaries. This proposed development would almost double the footprint of the building. It was a modern development not in keeping with the style of the existing buildings. He informed Members there had been flood events; he had specific flood defences across his gate. He expressed concerns about overlooking and privacy issues. This extension was not suitable and should not be approved.

Local Member Councillor Forrest, not a member of the Planning Committee, referred to the applicant's circumstances stating that the family had considered all options. He disagreed with the officer's assessment; he did not think the extension would be particularly prominent, as the nearby block of flats would partially hide it. He did not feel this proposal would look out of place; there were many different styles of properties along the Promenade.

Councillor McLeod agreed with the officer's recommendation for refusal of this application.

Councillor Findlay referred to the duty of care to the neighbours, highlighting loss of privacy and daylight issues. He would be supporting the officer's recommendation for refusal.

Councillor Bruce expressed support for the recommendation to refuse the application.

Councillor Gilbert stated that he felt a single storey extension could provide the necessary ground level accommodation. He would be supporting the recommendation for refusal.

The Convener ended the discussion. He agreed with comments expressed by other Members. He would be supporting the recommendation for refusal as set out in the report.

The Convener moved to the vote on the report recommendation (for refusal):

For: 9 Against 0: Abstentions: 0

Decision

The Committee agreed to refuse planning permission for the following reasons:

- The proposed extension would not by its prominence, size and scale and of its modern form and finish be in keeping with the character and appearance of the existing house. It would instead appear as an incongruous and alien feature within the street scene that would not be well integrated into its surroundings. Consequently the proposed extension is contrary to Policy 1B (The Spatial Strategy: Development Principles) of the approved South East Scotland Strategic Development Plan (SESplan) and Policy DP5 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.
- By virtue of its position in relation to neighbouring residential properties, and of its design and height, the proposed extension would result in a loss of amenity through loss of daylight to the ground floor window on the front elevation of No 27 Promenade and to the window in the ground floor of the rear elevation of the adjacent ground floor flat at No 30 Promenade. This loss of daylight to these rooms would have a detrimental impact on the residential amenity of those neighbouring properties contrary to Policies DP5 (Extension and Alterations to Existing Properties) of the East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.
- 3 By virtue of the height of the first floor terrace and of its close proximity to the first floor window in the west elevation of the flatted property at No. 30 Promenade there would be a loss of privacy through overlooking from the proposed first floor terrace into that adjacent window contrary to Policy DP5 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.
- The proposed development would double the amount of habitable rooms to this property where no off street parking provision would be provided. As such, the proposal does not meet the Council's Parking Standards as set out in East Lothian Council's Standards for Development Roads 2008, nor can onstreet parking be provided as an alternative. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies T1 (Development Location and Accessibility) and T2 (General Traffic Impact) of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.
- The application site is within an area identified as being at risk of flooding. No evidence has been submitted in support of the application that demonstrates that the proposed extension would not be at risk of flooding. As such the proposal fails to comply with Policy NH11 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

Signed					
	Councillor Norman Hampshire				
	Convener of the Planning Committee				





REPORT TO: Planning Committee

MEETING DATE: Tuesday 5 February 2019

BY: Depute Chief Executive

(Partnerships and Community Services)

SUBJECT: Application for Planning Permission for Consideration

Application No. 18/00677/PM

Proposal Erection of a petrol filling station with ancillary retail unit (class 1), 1

drive-thru coffee shop (class 3), 2 drive-thru restaurants (fast food) (class 3), associated car parking, landscaping and infrastructure

works

Location Land To The North Of A1 Gladsmuir Junction

Gladsmuir Tranent East Lothian EH33 1EJ

Applicant Euro Garages Ltd

Per Clarendon Planning & Development Ltd

RECOMMENDATION Consent Granted

PLANNING ASSESSMENT

As the area of the application site is greater than 2 hectares the development proposed in this application is, under the provisions of The Town and Country Planning (Hierarchy of Developments) (Scotland) Regulations 2009, defined as a major development and thus it cannot be decided through the Council's Scheme of Delegation. The application is therefore brought before the Planning Committee for a decision.

As a statutory requirement for major development proposals this development proposal was the subject of a Proposal of Application Notice (Ref: 17/00002/PAN) and thus of community consultation prior to this application for planning permission being made to the Council.

As an outcome of that and as a statutory requirement for dealing with major development type applications a pre-application consultation report is submitted with this application. The report informs that some 19 people attended the pre-application public exhibition, which was held at Tranent Library, Tranent on 28th February 2018, and that those attendees made a number of queries and suggestions regarding the proposals. The

development for which planning permission is now sought is of the same character as that which was the subject of the community engagement undertaken through the statutory pre-application consultation of the proposal.

This planning application relates to some 2.43 hectares of land in the countryside on the west side of the B6363 and some 125m north of the Gladsmuir Junction of the A1. The site is some 1.7 miles south of Longniddry and some 3.7m northeast of Tranent. The area of land was last in use as part of the Raceland karting centre which was an indoor and outdoor go karting centre. That business use was originally granted planning permission in 1990 and the business ceased operating in the spring of 2018.

The application site consists of slightly more than the southern half of the area of land that comprises the Raceland Karting Centre. It also includes a strip of land along the eastern edge of the former Raceland site, as well as the section of the B6363 road that is adjacent to the former Raceland site. An area of land 1.78 ha in size adjacent to the north side of the application site is also part of and in the same ownership as the application site. That additional area of land is not proposed for any development at this point in time.

The site, the adjacent land and the surrounding agricultural land to the north and west is part of the larger area of land safeguarded by Proposal BW2: Safeguarded Blindwells Expansion Area of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan for the potential expansion of the Blindwells new settlement. That safeguarded land in combination with Proposal BW1: Blindwells New Settlment is known as the Blindwells Development Area.

The former Raceland site is currently accessed from a vehicular access on the west side of the B6363. It has a large outdoor racing track, and a building some 7m in height which accommodated an indoor track and restaurant. Other smaller buildings adjoin that larger building which accommodate changing facilities and offices. A further wooden shed like fort structure is located within the site which provided an outdoor paintball facility which is also some 7.5m in height. The outside racetrack covers the majority of the application site with associated customer and staff. The Raceland facility operated throughout the day from 10.00am to 22.00pm 7 days a week. It has large lighting columns situation throughout the site which enabled night time use.

Existing hedges enclose the east and south boundaries of the application site on its northern and western sides, a landscaped bund encloses it on its southern side and landscape planting encloses its eastern side.

The farm at Hoprig Mains is located some 400m to the northwest and the farm of Hoprig is located some 530m to the north east. Glasdsmuir Granary is located some 900m to the east with Elvingston Science centre beyond.

The application site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area; therefore within the application site and surrounding area there are coal mining features and hazards which need to be considered in relation to the determination of this planning application.

Planning permission is now sought for the erection of a petrol filling station with ancillary retail unit, 1 "drive-thru" coffee shop, 2 "drive-thru" restaurants and associated car parking, landscaping and infrastructure works on the application site.

The applicant's submitted Planning Statement informs that the applicant Euro Garages Ltd are one of the fastest growing forecourt operators in the UK. They are committed to expanding their presence in Scotland and this site represents one of several development that they are pursuing. Euro Garages have an innovative approach to roadside retail and fuel services and have forged successful relationships with high

profiled national and globally recognised brands. Currently Euro Garages operate more than 104 Starbucks (drive-to and drive-thru), 50 Burger Kings, 167 Subways and 104 Greggs bakeries. Euro Garages have recently structured a partnership with McDonalds and the proposal at Gladsmuir will be one of the first developments to have McDonald as a retail partner. They are committed to providing an up to date modern offer to all road users through excellent customer services, good value products and wide range of facilities that customers have come to expect from roadside forecourt services.

The Planning Statement asserts that there is only one signed service on the "Scottish" stretch of the A1 at Musselburgh Services. These services are dated and offer limited facilities (Travelodge and petrol filling station) and do not meet the services expected or required by current road users. Petrol filling stations are also provided at Dunbar (Spott Road) but these are unmanned and associated with the ASDA supermarket. A McDonalds restaurant and Marston Inn are also located nearby.

The proposed road side services would comprise:

- a new petrol filling station (PFS) (5 fuel pumps for cars and LGVs and 3 fuel pumps for HGV's) and associated PFS retail building with associated toilets (575 m2 and 5.2m in height);
- 1 Class 1 Drive Thru coffee shop (205 m2 and 4.4m in height and 7.4m to top of chimney);
- 2 Class 3 Drive through restaurants (330m2 and 400m2 both 5.6m in height):
- New internal spine road;
- Footpath on the eastern side of B6363;
- Pedestrian refuge island on the B6363;
- Free vehicle parking for 107 vehicles including 7 disabled spaces;
- 16 cycle parking bays;
- Refuse compound:
- Landscaping; and
- Picnic tables.

All the buildings would be single storey in height, with mono-pitched roofs and each would have a largely rectangular shaped footprint. The 2 drive thru restaurant buildings and the coffee shop would each have an associated outdoor seating areas. The PFS component would be the largest building at 575ms and would be located to the western area of the site. The 2 drive thru restaurant units would be located to the southern and eastern part of the site with parking to the front (north and west) of each of those units. The coffee shop drive through unit would be the smallest unit and would be located almost centrally within the site with parking to the east side of it. Staff parking would be provided to the north of the coffee shop.

The PFS component would be open 24 hours, 7 days a week. The Class 1 retail units and adjacent fuel pumps will cater for motorist needs and provide both convenience floorspace and ancillary food to go and bakery counters. This element of the development could create 9 full time jobs and 35 part time jobs.

The drive thru units will be open 7 days a week with the coffee shop operating from 6am to 11pm, one fast food unit operating 24 hours and the second unit operating from 10am to 11pm. The coffee drive thru could employ 4 full time staff and 16 part time staff. The fast food elements could employ 30 full time staff and 115 part time staff.

The application is supported by, amongst other things, a Pre-application Consultation Report, a Planning Statement, a Transport Impact Assessment, a Coal Mining Risk

Assessment, a Drainage Strategy, a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, a Protected Species Assessment, a Heritage Impact Assessment, a Lighting Report and Design and Access Statement.

Under the provisions of The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Scotland) Regulations 2017 the proposed development falls within the category of a Schedule 2 Development, being one that may require the submission of an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). Schedule 3 of The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Scotland) Regulations 2017 sets out the selection criteria for screening whether a Schedule 2 development requires an EIA. On 30th October 2018 the Council issued a formal screening opinion to the applicant. The screening opinion concludes that it is East Lothian Council's view that the proposed development of the scale proposed is not likely to have a significant effect on the environment such that consideration of environmental information is required before any grant of planning permission. It is therefore the opinion of East Lothian Council as Planning Authority that there is no requirement for the proposed roadside services development to be the subject of an EIA.

Section 25 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 requires that the application be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The development plan is the approved South East Scotland Strategic Development Plan (SESplan) and the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

Policy 1B (The Spatial Strategy: Development Principles) of the approved South East Scotland Strategic Development Plan (SESplan) and Proposals BW2 (Safeguarded Blindwells Expansion Area) and Policies DC1 (Rural Diversification), DP1 (Landscape Character), DP2 (Design), T1(Development Location and Accessibility) and T2 (General Transport Impact) of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018 are relevant to the determination of the application.

Material to the determination of the application is Scottish Planning Policy: June 2014 and Planning for Transport (PAN 75) August 2005.

Four written representations have been received to the application.

One representation fully supports the proposal stating that it constitutes the type of development that is needed.

Two of the representations neither oppose nor support the proposal but raise the following issues:

- 1. That the application site forms part of the wider Blindwells Masterplan area, and to facilitate the greater Blindwells new settlement the B6363 public road will require widening. The application plans do not appear to enable this widening. Therefore agreement should be reached with the applicant to show how widening can be accommodated and any ground required contained in a Roads Construction Consent application that is granted now so that the area required for widening becomes part of the public road; and
- 2. The proposed access to the road services will be some 50m north of an existing access which serves a Granary. At certain times of the year traffic flows to and from that access are heavily used by HGVs which could potentially cause issues.

The other representation raises objections to the proposed development with the main grounds being:

*There is sufficient existing supply of this type of use in the area at Musselburgh Service Area and the facilities at Asda Dunbar. There are also petrol filling facilities at Fort Kinnaird, Gladsmuir, Haddington, Tranent, Musselburgh and The Jewel, each of which has a comprehensive retail unit or is part of a larger retail site. Drive thru facilities are also located at Fort Kinnaird, Dunbar and Hermiston Gait. There is no locational justification for these services at the site and their presence would dilute the local market for existing facilities.

*The application site is designated as part of Proposal BW2 of the East Lothian Local Development Plan which safeguards land for the expansion of the Blindwells new settlement. Proposals within the Blindwells Expansion Area will be required to comply with the Development Brief that will set out the spatial vision for Blindwells. The application site is located at the eastern extreme of Proposal BW2 and would represent a piecemeal approach to the development of the Blindwells allocation.

*The proposal does not comply with the Town Centre First Principle of paragraph 60 of Scottish Planning Policy: June 2014 (SPP) as it is not located in a town centre. The applicant has provided no evidence that alternative locations have been assessed and discounted to justify the location of this development.

*SPP also introduces a preference for sustainable travel. The cycle and pedestrian accessibility of this development are sub-optimal. The narrow pavements and limited crossing points do not adequately access all parts of the development and does not prioritise pedestrian safety.

Macmerry and Gladsmuir Community Council were consulted on this planning application but did not respond.

The application site is not located within an existing defined settlement. Neither is it specifically allocated for development by the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018. Rather it is within the East Lothian countryside and therefore Policy DC1 applies. Policy DC1 states that development in the countryside, including changes of use or conversion of existing buildings, will be supported in principle where it is for:

- a) Agriculture, horticulture, forestry, infrastructure or countryside recreation; or
- b) Other businesses that have an operational requirement for a countryside location, including tourism and leisure uses.

PAN 75 states that Roadside Services are to be provided primarily to meet the needs of travellers and the scale of provision should be consistent with those needs. The Service Area should provide free short term parking, fuel, free toilets and picnic area. Other facilities can be provided where there is demand including catering and a retail unit. of up to 200 sq m. For a dual carriageway (such as the A1) all the services should be provided on both sides, or if on one side only, connected to the other by an overbridge or underbridge.

What is proposed is the provision of a roadside services facility on land adjacent to the Gladsmuir junction of the A1 trunk road. The facility would include free short term parking, fuel, free toilets and a picnic area. It would also include catering and a retail unit. It would be capable of being conveniently accessed from south bound road users, as well as by north bound road users who could access it via the overbridge of the Gladsmuir junction. The proposed development is therefore consistent with the

requirements for a roadside service facility given in PAN75.

The objector argues that there is already a sufficient supply of facilities of this type in the area and that there is no justified requirement for the proposed development. They state that there are currently 12 petrol filling stations within a 15 minute drive of the application site. Of these, the following 7 are located less than 5 minutes from the A1:

- * Gladsmuir Petrol Station on the A199, Gladsmuir;
- * Jet on the A199, Haddington;
- * Asda Tranent on High Street, Tranent;
- * Jet on the A199, Tranent;
- * BP at the Old Craighall Services;
- * Asada at the Jewel, Edinburgh; and
- * Asda at Spott Road, Dunbar.

However of those, only two are roadside services facilities in East Lothian, namely the Old Craighall Services and the Spott Road Services. Those facilities are located some 23 miles away from each other. The application site is located between them, being located some 15 miles to the west of the Spott Road Services and some 8 miles to the east of the Old Craighall Services.

Scottish Planning Policy: June 2014 does not set out how far roadside services facilities should be located from each other. Rather it states that planning authorities should support the provision of a range of roadside facilities.

By being a roadside services facility to cater for travellers on the A1 Trunk Road this proposal has an operational requirement to be located in close proximity to, and easily accessed from the A1. Therefore, as the stretch of the A1 that runs through East Lothian is located in the countryside the roadside services development also has an operational requirement to be located in the countryside. Furthermore neither of the existing roadside services at Spott Road and Old Craighall provide 24 hour access to both fuel and retail/rest facilities on the A1. Thus the roadside services facility, which it is intended would provide 24 hour access to both fuel and retail/rest facilities will increase the range of roadside services for users of the A1. On this consideration the proposed development is consistent with Scottish Planning Policy: June 2014.

By having an operational requirement for its countryside location, the principle of the proposed development is consistent with Policy DC1 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

Policy TC1 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018 requires that a sequential 'town centre first' will be applied where appropriate to retail, commercial, leisure, office and other development proposals that would attract significant footfall. The advice from Development Planning - Policy and Projects is that Policy TC1 is not applicable in this case, as roadside services facilities are sui generis and additional facilities to reasonably meet the needs of travellers, such as Drive through restaurants and a Drive Thru coffee shop can be part and parcel of the roadside facility,

The advice from the Council's Economic Development and Strategic Investment team manager is that this proposal will create a number of new full and part time jobs - 43 full time and 167 part time. Therefore and as the proposal will provide a fuel stop and associated facilities for drivers on the A1 7 days a week 24 hours a day that they support the application.

The majority of the application site is covered by Proposal BW2 of the adopted East

Lothian Local Development Plan 2018. Proposal BW2 states that any development proposal for all or part of the safeguarded Blindwells Expansion Area that would undermine a single comprehensive solution or the Council's vision for a larger new settlement will not be supported.

The advice from Development Planning - Policy and Projects is that the proposed development site is located at the eastern edge of the safeguarded area of Proposal BW2 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018. However, it would be located wholly on the existing Raceland site, which could if it so wanted begin operating again without the need for any further planning permission. Therefore and by being a relatively small scale development on the edge of the safeguarded area the proposed roadside services would not in itself undermine or prejudice development of the Greater Blindwells new settlement. However, a safeguarded access into the wider Blindwells site should be secured, so as not to preclude integration with the wider plans.

On this matter, the Council's Road Services advise that development of the Greater Blindwells site may require the widening of the B6363 to allow road improvements to facilitate access to that development. To ensure that such road widening would be possible and to ensure that the proposed roadside services facility does not prejudice the development of Greater Blindwells, Road Services recommend that a 16m wide strip of land be safeguarded to facilitate such road widening. Road Services confirms that Drawing ref: 170223-PL-03k demonstrates sufficient safeguarded land and is acceptable.

To ensure that the proposed development does not undermine the development of Greater Blindwells, it is necessary to secure the transfer of the safeguarded land, at a cost based on a District Valuer valuation assessed on the land valued as petrol filling station use, in the event that it is required to be developed for future road widening or other transportation infrastructure associated with the Greater Blindwells development. This could be secured by an agreement under Section 75 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997. The basis of this is consistent with the tests of a planning agreement set in Planning Circular 3/2012: Planning Obligations and Good Neighbour Agreements. Subject to the Council securing the transfer of the safeguarded land the proposal would be consistent with Proposal BW2 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

Subject to the safeguarding of a strip of land on the western edge of the B6106 Policy and Projects the proposed roadside services would not prejudice the development of the Greater Blindwells new settlement. On this consideration the proposed development does not conflict with Proposal BW2 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

The existing buildings that comprise the Raceland karting centre together with its racetrack are still in situ. Therefore, whilst the business ceased operations earlier this year it could if it so wanted begin operating again without the need for planning control. Those buildings, and in particular the large indoor karting shed and the paintballing fort structure are visible in views from the A1 and more particularly from the B6363. They form part of the landscape character of the area.

The advice from the Council's Landscape Officer is that the site is most visible from the A1 on the approach from the west. An LVIA has been submitted by the applicant in support of the application. The Landscape Officer advises that by their positioning on the north side of the Gladsmuir Junction the proposed buildings of the roadside services although visible in east and west bound approaches of the A1 would each be smaller and at 4.5m much lower in height than the main building of Raceland that contains the indoor

karting track. Therefore and as each of those buildings would be of a contemporary architectural design and provided they are of an appropriate colour(s) they would sit relatively comfortably within their landscape setting. The proposed outdoor seating/eating areas and associated works in the form of car parking, other areas of hardstanding, fencing and lighting associated with the buildings would be seen in relation to the buildings with which they would be functionally related. Therefore and subject to the provision of the proposed landscaping including the provision of a landscape buffer on the west boundary of the site the Landscape Officer does not raise any objection to the proposal.

On those matters of design the proposed roadside services would not appear unduly prominent or incongruous within their landscape setting and would not be contrary to Policies DP1 or DP2 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

Policy TC4 of the adopted East Lothian Local Plan 2018 supports the provision of hot food outlets in Town or local centres or in designated employment areas where the development is intended to meet demand from employees of businesses within the site. There is nothing in Policy TC4 that prevents the principle of locating a hot food outlet outwith a town or local centre or outwith a designated employment area. However, Policy TC4 does state that the location of hot food takeaways should not result in significant impacts on local amenity, including cumulatively with other existing or consented take-aways in the area and are consistent with other relevant Plan policies including in relation to parking and road safety.

There are no nearby neighbouring residential properties close enough to the proposed development to be affected detrimentally by the operation of the proposed roadside services including to the hot food takeaway elements of the development. Consequently, the Councils Environmental Health and Trading Standards Manager raises no objections to the proposals including on the ground of loss of amenity through noise or smell.

There are no existing hot food takeaways in this part of Gladsmuir/Macmerry/Tranent and thus the proposed drive through elements of the proposal would not result in any cumulative impact on local amenity.

Police Scotland has made no comment on the application.

Thus on those matters the proposed hot foot outlet components of the development are not contrary to Policy TC4 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

Due to its distance away from neighbouring residential properties the proposed development would not give rise to harmful overlooking or overshadowing of any neighbouring residential properties. Thus the proposals are consistent with Policy DP2 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

The Council's Policy and Projects team advises that owing to the exposed nature of the site landscaping that creates shelter is important. They recommend measures for the protection of existing hedgerow along the south boundary of the site, the planting of a mix of native species hedging and hedgerow trees along the east boundary of the site and the planting of beech hedgerow along the west and north boundaries of the site, all to tie in with and complement existing landscaping throughout the wider mixed use site. They recommend that details for such hedgerow protection and planting be part of a landscaping scheme to be agreed in advance by the Planning Authority. They further recommend timescales for the implementation of the landscaping scheme and measures for replacement planting should any of the new landscaping become damaged or diseased. These matters can reasonably be controlled by conditions of a

grant of planning permission for the proposed development.

Transport Scotland were consulted on the application and advised that they do not object to the proposal. They have asked that conditions be attached to any grant of planning permission to ensure that details of lighting within the site and of landscaping and barriers to be erected along the frontage of the site with the trunk road be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority in conjunction with Transport Scotland.

SEPA were consulted on the application and had initially objected to the application on the grounds of lack of information on the impact of the development on groundwater. However after the submission of further information and provided a condition is attached to any grant of planning permission that would enure that SEPA have removed their objection.

The Council's Road Services advises that the access and road layout and 109 parking spaces as shown in Drawing 170223-PL-03k are acceptable. They also advise that the proposed new junction onto the B6363 will be the subject of a Road Safety Audit as part of the Road Construction Consent process. Therefore and provided 4 bike parking facilities are provided adjacent to each of the 4 buildings of the development the development is not contrary to Policies T1 and T2 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

The Coal Authority were consulted on the application and have advised that the application site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area. The Coal Authority concurs with the recommendations of the Coal Mining Risk Assessment Report that coal mining legacy potentially poses a risk to the proposed development and that intrusive site investigations should be undertaken prior to development in order to establish the exact situation regarding coal mining legacy on the site.

The Coal Authority recommends that a condition be imposed on a grant of planning permission that requires appropriate site investigations and that a report of findings arising from those works is submitted to and approved. If remedial works are required then a condition should also be imposed that required the submits of a scheme of remedial works to be approved by the Planning Authority and ensures that those remedial works are implemented. Subject to the imposition of those aforementioned conditions the Coal Authority raises no objection to the proposed development.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to:

- 1. The undernoted conditions.
- 2. The satisfactory conclusion of an Agreement under Section 75 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, or some other legal agreement designed to:
- (i) Safeguard the land outlined in purple on the drawing, entitled 'Proposed Site Layout', reference 170223-PL-03K, for future road widening/provision of an Active Transport Corridor (associated with the development of Blindwells Expansion Area) for acquisition, at a cost based on a Distric Valuer valuation assessed on the land valued as petrol filling station use, and implementation by East Lothian Council. The land shall be safeguarded for a period of 10 years from the date of initiation of development of this planning permission or for an alternative time period that East Lothian Council has agreed with the landowner. On Expiration of the agreed time period, and if the Planning Authority has not demonstrated that the safeguarded land is required to facilitate the development of the

Greater Blindwells development the land will revert back to the landowner for their unrestricted future use. For clarity, subject to the gaining the required permissions from the planning authority, signage associated with the adjacent land uses will be permitted on the Safeguarded land until such time the land is acquired by East Lothian Council for the future the required road widening / provision of an Active Transport Corridor works.

- 3. That in accordance with the Council's policy on time limits for completion of planning agreements it is recommended that the decision should also be that in the event of the Section 75 Agreement not having been executed by the applicant, the landowner and any other relevant party within six months of the decision taken on this application, the application shall then be refused for the reason that without the ability to secure the transfer of the safeguarded land, in the event that it is required for the future road widening/provision of an Active Transport Corridor, the proposed development could prejudice the development of the Greater Blindwells new settlement, contrary to Proposal BW2 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.
- Prior to the commencement of development, a phasing plan shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority. The phasing plan shall accord with the following requirements:
 - (i) The roads and footpaths shall be completed and available for use prior to any use being made of any part of the Road Services Facility;
 - (ii) The petrol filling station together with the PFS retail facility and rest facilities shall be complete and made available for use prior to the opening of any of the 3 drive through units;
 - (iii) Prior to the opening of each of the buildings of the development the associated bike parking, picnic tables and out door seating areas will installed and be made available for use by the public.

The development will thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved phasing plan unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Planning Authority.

Reason:

To enable the Planning Authority to control the development of the site in the interests of the good planning of the site.

2 No development shall take place on site unless and until final site setting out details have been submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority.

The above mentioned details shall include a final site setting-out drawing to a scale of not less than 1:200, giving:

- a. the position within the application site of all elements of the proposed development and position of adjoining land and buildings;
- b. finished ground and floor levels of the development relative to existing ground levels of the site and of adjoining land and building(s). The levels shall be shown in relation to an Ordnance Bench Mark or Temporary Bench Mark from which the Planning Authority can take measurements and shall be shown on the drawing; and
- c. the ridge height of the proposed buildings; shown in relation to the finished ground and floor levels on the site.

Reason:

To enable the Planning Authority to control the development of the site in the interests of the amenity of the area.

- A schedule of materials and finishes and samples of such finishes for all components of the development, including ground surfaces and boundary enclosures shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to the material and finishes being used in the development. The materials and finishes used in the development shall accord with the schedule and samples of them so approved.

 Reason:
 - To enable the Planning Authority to control the materials, finishes and colour to be used to achieve a development of good quality and appearance in the interest of the visual amenity of the area.
- Bike parking sufficient for 4 bikes shall be provided adjacent to each of the 4 buildings of the development prior to each of those buildings becoming operational and open for business. Thereafter the bike parking shall remain available for use unless otherwise agreed in writing by the

Planning Authority.

Reason:

In the interests of encouraging sustainable methods of travel to the development.

All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping [on the drawings titled 'Landscape Layout (1 of 4)' with drawing number 01 rev F 'Landscape Layout (2 of 4)' with drawing number 02 rev F 'Landscape Layout (3 of 4)' with drawing number 03 rev F 'Landscape Layout (4 of 4)' with drawing number 04 rev F and 'Landscape Masterplan' with drawing number MA rev F], shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation or completion of the development hereby approved, whichever is the sooner. Any trees or plants which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar species and final size, unless the Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. No trees or shrubs, detailed in the approved landscaping plans to be retained on the site, shall be damaged or uprooted, felled, topped, lopped or interfered with in any manner without the previous written consent of the Planning Authority.

Reason:

In order to ensure the implementation of a landscaping scheme to enhance the appearance of the development.

Prior to the commencement of development (i) intrusive site investigations shall be undertaken on the site to establish any coal mining legacy issues on the site, (ii) A report of findings arising from the intrusive site investigations shall thereafter be submitted together with a scheme of remedial works for the approval of the Planning Authority in conjunction with The Coal Authority and (iii) those remedial works shall be implemented prior to the commencement of development of the site unless, otherwise agreed in writing by the Planning Authority.

Reason:

In the interests of the safe development of the site.

Prior to the commencement of development the details of (i) any barriers to be erected along the trunk road boundary, (ii) any lighting to be erected within the application site and (iii) any landscaping treatments along the trunk road boundary shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority in conjunction with Transport Scotland. Thereafter the barriers, lighting and landscaping shall accord with the details so approved unless otherwise agreed in writing.

Reason:

To ensure that there will be no distraction or dazzle to drivers on the trunk road and in the interests of road safety.

8 There shall be no drainage connection to the trunk road drainage system.

Reason:

To ensure the efficientcy of the existing trunk road drainage network is not affected.

Prior to the installation of the foundations for the tank farm hereby approved, an assessment of the condition of the sub-soil shall be made in order to determine any special precautionary work which might be necessary to reduce the possibility of structural failure of the tank farm. The assessment shall review the ground conditions and the foundation design and shall consider whether any precautionary works are necessary to ensure that there is no risk to the water environment. The assessment shall include a timetable for the implementation of any such precautionary works. Details of the assessment shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority following consultation with the Scottish Environment Protection Agency. Any such precautionary works shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the timetable so approved.

Reason:

To ensure that there is no risk to the water environment from the proposed development.

Please note that the remainder of pages relating to this item have been removed as they contain personal information (for example - names and addresses of people that have made representation)



REPORT TO: Planning Committee

MEETING DATE: Tuesday 5 February 2019

BY: Depute Chief Executive

(Partnerships and Community Services)

SUBJECT: Application for Planning Permission for Consideration

Application No. 18/01151/PM

Proposal Variation of condition 1(e) of planning permission in principle

09/00574/OUT - To change the A1087 public road visibility splays

at the new access junction

Location **Dunbar Golf Club**

East Links Road

Dunbar East Lothian EH42 1LL

Applicant Dunbar Golf Club

Per Apt Planning & Development Ltd

RECOMMENDATION Consent Granted

PLANNING ASSESSMENT

As the area of the application site is greater than 2 hectares and the number of dwellings proposed is greater than 50, the development in principle proposed in this application is, under the provisions of The Town and Country Planning (Hierarchy of Developments) (Scotland) Regulations 2009, defined as a major development thus it cannot be decided through the Council's Scheme of Delegation. The application is therefore brought before the Planning Committee for a decision.

The application site is immediately to the east of Dunbar. It has an area of some 55.3 hectares and mainly consists of the golf course land and buildings of Dunbar Golf Club. It also includes an area of land to the south of the golf course that is known as Deer Park, and an area of land to the south of the eastern end of the golf course.

At the meeting of East Lothian Council on 27th March 2012 the application for planning permission in principle 09/00574/OUT was approved against officer recommendation for a development on the application site of a golf clubhouse, a 9 hole golf course, a golf academy and driving range, short game practice facilities, a greenkeeper's shed, a hotel and 67 residential units at Dunbar Golf Club.

Planning permission in principle 09/00574/OUT was approved subject to 12 conditions and subject to the conclusion of a legal agreement under section 75 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997. That legal agreement secures a financial contribution of £149,480.00 towards the expansion of Dunbar Grammar School and £193,115.00 towards the provision of additional accommodation at Dunbar Primary School. Condition 1 of planning permission in principle 09/00574/OUT states:

"The submission for approval of matters specified in conditions of this grant of planning permission in principle shall include: details of the siting, design and external appearance of the golf clubhouse, golf academy, greenkeepers shed, 67 residential units and hotel; the means of access to them; the means of any enclosure of the boundaries of the site and any subdivision of it; and the landscaping of the site including the 9 hole golf course, driving range and short game practice facilities. Those details shall generally accord with the drawings docketed to this planning permission in principle, with the principles of the Council's Urban Design Standards for New Housing Areas and the Scottish Government Policy Designing Streets, and otherwise those details shall accord with the following principles of development for the site:

- a) a play area shall be provided within the main housing area. Details of the play area, including the equipment to be provided within it, shall be submitted to and approved in advance and the play area shall be installed in accordance with the details so approved;
- b) Houses shall be no higher than two storeys in height and may include accommodation in the roof space; any flatted building(s) shall be no higher than three storeys in height and may include accommodation in the roofspace;
- c) The golf academy/clubhouse building(s) shall be no more than two storeys in height and may include accommodation in the roof space;
- d) existing trees and hedgerows on the site and its boundaries shall be retained and enhanced unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority;
- e) for any new access to the A1087 public road visibility splays of 4.5 metres by 120 metres shall be provided and maintained at the new access junction
- f) parking shall be to the required standards of East Lothian Council's Parking Standards:
- g) shared cycle/ footway provision shall be made along the A1087 road from the site access northwards to the layby on the east side of Queens Road;
- h) Bus stops shall be provided in close proximity to the new access junction onto the A1087 road.

Reason:

To enable the Planning Authority to control the development in the interests of the amenity of the development and of the wider environment".

This application seeks to vary condition 1(e) of planning permission in principle 09/000547/OUT to amend the required visibility splay at the junction of the new access with the A1087 public road from 4.5 metres by 215 metres at the new access junction to 4.5m by 120m.

In a statement submitted in support of this application the applicant's agent states that under planning permission 15/00630/PM the development of 240 homes (and associated works) at Bowmont Terrace has been permitted and is well underway. Condition 11 of that consent sought the implementation of a new 30 mph speed limit to the southern edge of the site along Bowmont Terrace. This speed limit has been reduced to 20 mph with a 40 mph limit extending further south to beyond Broxburn. The reduction in the speed limit has changed the characteristics of the road and therefore requires less onerous visibility splay lines to be implemented as part of any development proposals on the applicant's (Dunbar Golf Club) land as permitted by planning permission in principle 09/00574/OUT. The proposed new junction for the golf club would be located just outwith the 20mph limit and within the 40 mph limit. This would indicate that sight lines of 4.5m by 120m would be sufficient and accordingly Dunbar Golf Club request this change be made to Part e of Condition 1.

Section 25 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 requires that the application be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The development plan is the approved South East Scotland Strategic Development Plan (SESplan) and the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

There are no policies of the approved South East Scotland Strategic Development Plan (SESplan) relevant to the determination of this application. Proposal ED6 (Dunbar Cluster Education Proposals) and T2 (General Transport Impact) of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018 are relevant to the determination of this application.

No public representations to the application have been received.

The masterplan approved with planning permission in principle 09/00547OUT indicates that vehicular access to the replacement clubhouse, golf academy and driving range, practice facilities for the short game, hotel site, 9 hole short golf course and the 26 residential units proposed for part of the land of Deer Park could be taken from the A1087 road by way of a new priority junction.

In his response to the consultation on planning permission in principle application 09/00547/OUT the Head of Transportation (now Road Services) raised no objection in principle to the proposed access arrangements for the proposed development outlined in the transportation statement submitted with the application and indicatively shown on the applicant's masterplan. In particular response to this the Head of Transportation advises that such new access would necessitate (i) the stopping up of the existing access from the Deer Park part of the site onto the A1087 and (ii) that a visibility splay of 4.5 metres by 215 metres be provided and maintained at the new access junction onto the A1087 road.

Since the decision on the application for planning permission in principle 09/00574/OUT was taken in March 2012 the East Lothian Local Development plan has been adopted which through Proposal DR5: Land at Newtonlees, Dunbar allocates the land on the opposite side of the A1087 to the application site for residential development of up to 240 residential units. Planning permission 15/00630/PM has been granted for 240 houses to be built on that land. Condition 11 of planning permission 15/00630/PM required the imposition of a 40mph speed limit on the A1087 along the frontage of the site. Planning permission 15/00630/PM has been implemented, some of the houses are occupied and the reduction in the speed limit to 40 mph has been imposed and is now in place.

The advice from Road Services is that as the speed limit on the A1087 has been reduced to 40 mph from 60 mph then the visibility splay required for the junction the subject of planning permission in principle 09/00547/OUT at Deer Park onto the A1087 has also been reduced. Therefore, he has no objection to a variation of the condition to reduce the visibility splay to 4.5m by 120m. Consequently, the proposed variation of condition 1(e) would not give rise to any issues of road safety and does not conflict with Policy T2 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.

A revised version of Planning Series Circular 3/2013 (Development Management Procedures) was published by the Scottish Government in September 2015. Annex I of the Circular gives guidance on applications for planning permission under section 42 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, as amended. The application that is the subject of this report is made under section 42 of the Act. Annex I states that "Planning authorities should attach to the new permission all of those conditions from the previous permission, where it is intended these should apply and ensure (where appropriate) that permission is granted subject to the conclusion of any appropriate planning obligation". Therefore, planning permission should be granted subject to the applied for variation to condition 1e and subject to all of those conditions from planning permission in principle 09/00574/OUT, where it is intended these should apply. In this case the conditions that should continue to apply are conditions 1 (as amended), 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12 and 13. It is further recommended that the number of housing completions each year is controlled. This control can be secured through the imposition of an additional condition, condition 14.

When the decision on planning permission in principle 09/00547/OUT was taken in March 2012 it was subject to the developer making a financial contribution towards the expansion of the Lochend Campus of Dunbar Primary School of £149,480 and the expansion of Dunbar Grammar School of £193,115. At that time the John Muir campus of Dunbar Primary School did not require expansion and no contribution was sought for its expansion.

The Planning Obligations Officer has advised that a contribution towards the expansion of the Lochend Campus of Dunbar Primary School of £149,480 and the expansion of Dunbar Grammar School of £193,115 is again required. Moreover, given the length of time since the decision on planning permission in principle 09/00547/OUT was taken and given the amount of new development that has occurred in Dunbar since then, there is now a cumulative impact on the John Muir Primary School campus (which includes the nursery and lower primary school). As a result there is now a need to expand that campus by 2 new classrooms and 1 additional general purpose space. As set out in the Developer Contributions Framework Technical Note, of the adopted Local Development Plan 2018 the total costs of that expansion is £1,470,000. Factoring in pre-Local Development Plan committed contributions and Council funding, the sum required from new development for this expansion is £973,591. Spread over the 500 catchment dwellings (including the 67 from this proposal) this results in a per dwelling contribution of £1,947 which results in a contribution of £130,449 from this development. Therefore, the total education contributions for this development are now:

John Muir Campus Dunbar Primary School: £130,449 Lochend Campus Dunbar Primary School: £149,480

Dunbar Grammar School: £193.115

The required payment of a financial contribution of a total of £473,044 towards the provision of additional educational accommodation can be secured through an Agreement under Section 75 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 or by some other appropriate agreement. The basis of this is consistent with the tests of a

planning agreement set in Planning Circular 3/2012: Planning Obligations and Good Neighbour Agreements. Subject to the payment of the required contribution towards educational accommodation the proposal is consistent with Proposal ED6 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018, which stipulates that developer contributions will be sought from the developers of housing land to fund the costs of extensions to schools within the Dunbar cluster.

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to:

- 1. The undernoted conditions.
- 2. The satisfactory conclusion of an Agreement under Section 75 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, or some other legal agreement designed to secure from the applicant a financial contribution to the Council of £473044 for education contributions £149,480 towards the provision of additional capacity at the Lochend Campus of Dunbar Primary School, £130,449 towards John Muir Campus of Dunbar Primary School; and £193,115 towards additional capacity at Dunbar Grammar School;
- 3. That in accordance with the Council's policy on time limits for completion of planning agreements it is recommended that the decision should also be that in the event of the Section 75 Agreement not having been executed by the applicant, the landowner and any other relevant party within six months of the decision taken on this application, the application shall then be refused for the reason that without the developer contributions to be secured by the Agreement the proposed development is unacceptable due to a lack of sufficient school capacity at Dunbar Primary School and Dunbar Grammar School, contrary to Proposal ED6 of the adopted East Lothian Local Development Plan 2018.
- The submission for approval of matters specified in conditions of this grant of planning permission in principle shall include: details of the siting, design and external appearance of the golf clubhouse, golf academy, greenkeepers shed, 67 residential units and hotel; the means of access to them; the means of any enclosure of the boundaries of the site and any subdivision of it; and the landscaping of the site including the 9 hole golf course, driving range and short game practice facilities. Those details shall generally accord with the drawings docketed to this planning permission in principle, with the principles of the Council's Urban Design Standards for New Housing Areas and the Scottish Government Policy Designing Streets, and otherwise those details shall accord with the following principles of development for the site:
 - a) a play area shall be provided within the main housing area. Details of the play area, including the equipment to be provided within it, shall be submitted to and approved in advance and the play area shall be installed in accordance with the details so approved;
 - b) Houses shall be no higher than two storeys in height and may include accommodation in the roof space; any flatted building(s) shall be no higher than three storeys in height and may include accommodation in the roofspace;
 - c) The golf academy/clubhouse building(s) shall be no more than two storeys in height and may include accommodation in the roof space;
 - d) existing trees and hedgerows on the site and its boundaries shall be retained and enhanced unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority;
 - e) for any new access to the A1087 public road visibility splays of 4.5 metres by 120 metres shall be provided and maintained at the new access junction
 - f) parking shall be to the required standards of East Lothian Council's Parking Standards;

- g) shared cycle/ footway provision shall be made along the A1087 road from the site access northwards to the layby on the east side of Queens Road;
- Bus stops shall be provided in close proximity to the new access junction onto the A1087 road.

Reason:

To enable the Planning Authority to control the development in the interests of the amenity of the development and of the wider environment.

- 2 No development shall take place on site unless and until final site setting out details have been submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority.
 - a. The above mentioned details shall include a final site setting-out drawing to a scale of not less than 1:200, giving:
 - b. The position within the application site of all elements of the proposed development and position of adjoining land and buildings;
 - c. Finished ground and floor levels of the development relative to existing ground levels of the site and of adjoining land and building(s). The levels shall be shown in relation to an Ordnance Bench Mark or Temporary Bench Mark from which the Planning Authority can take measurements and shall be shown on the drawing; and
 - d. The ridge height of the proposed buildings shown in relation to the finished ground and floor levels on the site.

Reason:

To enable the Planning Authority to control the development of the site in the interests of the amenity of the area.

3 No work shall take place until the applicant has, through the employ of an archaeologist or archaeological organisation, secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work on the site of the proposed development in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which the applicant will submit to and have approved in advance by the Planning Authority.

Reason

To facilitate an acceptable archaeological investigation of the site.

No work shall take place on site until the scheduled ancient monument 'Samoya, 100m NNE of' has been protected by a fence, to be approved in writing by the Planning Authority, erected around the scheduled ancient monument at a distance as may be agreed in writing by the Planning Authority. Within the area so fenced off the existing ground -level shall neither be raised nor lowered and no materials, temporary buildings, plant, machinery or surface soil shall be placed or stored and no fires shall be lit thereon without the prior written approval of the Planning Authority.

Reason:

To ensure the retention and maintenance of the scheduled ancient monument.

No work shall be carried out on the site unless and until an effective vehicle wheel washing facility has been installed in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to its installation. Such facility shall be retained in working order and used such that no vehicle shall leave the site carrying earth and mud in their wheels in such a quantity which causes a nuisance or hazard on the road system in the locality.

Reason

In the interests of road safety.

A Green Travel Plan to minimise private car trips and to encourage use of alternative modes of transport shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of use of any component part of the scheme of development hereby approved. The Green Travel Plan shall include an assessment of whether or not new bus stops should be provided Additionally the Green Travel Plan shall include details of the measures to be provided, the system of management, monitoring, review, reporting and duration of the Plan. The approved Green Travel Plan shall be implemented prior to any component part of the scheme of development hereby approved being brought into use.

Reason

In the interests of ensuring sustainable travel patterns in respect of the use of the scheme of development.

A Construction Method Statement to minimise the impact of construction activity on the amenity of the area shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development. The Construction Method Statement shall recommend mitigation measures to control noise, dust, construction traffic and shall include hours of construction work. The recommendations of the Construction Method Statement shall be implemented prior to the commencement of development.

Reason:

To minimise the impact of construction activity in the interests of the amenity of the area.

A method statement for the routing and management of construction traffic shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development. The recommendations of the method statement shall be implemented prior to the commencement of development.

Reason:

To minimise the impact of construction traffic in the interests of road safety and the amenity of the area

Prior to the commencement of development full details of the finalised sustainable urban drainage scheme (SUDS) for the application site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority following consultation with the Scottish Water. The integrated sustainable urban drainage scheme (SUDS) for the application site shall thereafter be fully implemented in accordance with the details so approved.

Reason

To ensure the provision of a satisfactory sustainable urban drainage scheme for the application site.

Development shall not commence on site until full details of the foul drainage system have been submitted to and approved in advance by the Planning Authority in consultation with the Scottish Environment Protection Agency and Scottish Water.

Reason:

To ensure that the site is adequately serviced and to protect the quality of the local watercourse.

No use shall be made of the 9 hole golf course hereby approved unless and until any mitigation measures in respect of the A1087 public road, as required of a risk assessment to be submitted to and approved in advance by the Planning Authority, have been implemented.

Reason

In the interests of road safety.

Where access is to be taken from the A1087 road by way of a new priority junction this will be subject to the stopping up of the existing access from the Deer Park part of the site onto the A1087 and no part of the development to be accessed from such new junction shall be occupied or brought into use until such time as that existing access is stopped up.

Reason:

In the interests of road safety.

Housing completions on the application site and otherwise on the site in any one year (with a year being defined as being from 1st April to 31st March the following year) shall not cumulatively exceed the following completion rates, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority:

2020/21 - 10 units 2021/22 - 22 units 2022/23 - 35 units

If less than the specified number of residential units are completed in any one year then those shall be completed instead at Year 3 (2022/23) or beyond and not added to the subsequent Year.

Reason

To ensure that the completion rate of residential development within the application site accords with the provision of education capacity.